FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 6/24/2024 BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

FILED Court of Appeals Division I State of Washington 6/21/2024 3:18 PM

No. 84319-2-I

Case #: 1031998

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I, OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

LESCHI PARTNERS, LLC,

Plaintiff/Counterdefendant,

v.

FC LESCHI, LLC, dba BLUWATER BISTRO,

Respondent,

ZACHARY FLEET; BART EVANS AND FC LESCHI, LLC, D/B/A BLUWATER BISTRO – LESCHI,

Respondents,

V.

HARTFORD FIRE INSURANCE COMPANY; SENTINEL INSURANCE COMPANY LTD.; a foreign insurance company, part of the HARTFORD FIRE & CASUALTY GROUP,

Petitioners.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Hartford Fire Insurance Company and Sentinel Insurance Company ("Sentinel")¹ ask this Court to accept review of the Court of Appeals' opinion terminating review set forth in Part B.

B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISIONS

After its Commissioner granted review, Division I filed its opinion on April 29, 2024. Sentinel moved for reconsideration. Division I denied that motion on May 22, 2024; copies of those decisions are in the Appendix.

The trial court erroneously conflated the first and thirdparty Sentinel coverages at issue here.² The court's subsequent erroneous rulings on common law bad faith, Consumer Protection Act, RCW 19.86 ("CPA") as a matter of law, and Sentinel's alleged discovery violations cascaded from that initial

¹ Hartford Fire and Casualty Group is not a legal entity.

² Olds-Olympic, Inc. v. Commercial Union Ins. Co., 129 Wn.2d 464, 479, 918 P.2d 923 (1996) ("Third-party insurance involves protection for the policyholder for liability it incurs to someone else, while first-party insurance involves protection for losses to the policyholder's own property.").

error. Sentinel's first-party property insurance coverage that F.C. Leschi, LLC d/b/a BluWater Bistro ("BluWater") purchased provided no coverage for damage to the building of its landlord, Leschi Partners, LLC ("Leschi"). The electrical panel and wiring damaged in a fire BluWater caused were embedded in that building. Sentinel paid Leschi for the loss to that panel/wiring under BluWater's liability (third-party) coverage, including the repairs costs that Leschi paid. The trial court, nevertheless, ordered that BluWater should be paid for the *very same loss* Sentinel paid to Leschi, when it did not own the panel/wiring and never incurred any repair costs.

Division I remedied some of the trial court's more obvious errors, reversing a part of its contractual liability decision and some of the more outrageous discovery sanctions, but it did not resolve other clear trial court errors that flowed from that court's error on contractual liability.

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Where an electrical service panel and wiring are embedded in a building, and coverage for the building is excluded, did the trial court err in concluding that a tenant could recover for the damage it caused to the panel/wiring, which the insurer had already paid the building's owner under the liability portion of the tenant's policy?

2. Where both the clear language of the insurance policy and Washington law provide that an insurer has no obligation to investigate a third-party liability claim prior to tender of a lawsuit, and the insurer accepts without reservation the tender of a lawsuit by a landlord against a tenant after a fire for damage to an electrical panel/wiring and pays the landlord's claim, thereby obtaining a release of the tenant's liability to the landlord, did the trial court err in concluding that the insurer committed common law bad faith or violated the CPA, as a matter of law?

3. Did the trial court err in concluding that an insurer allegedly failed to provide a sufficiently "high level" or properly prepared CR 30(b)(6) witness to testify in connection with the insured's baseless claim of a grand conspiracy, justifying onerous discovery sanctions?

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Division I's opinion sets forth the facts. Op. 3-9. Certain

factual points, however, bear emphasis. It is undisputed that:

• BluWater's Sentinel policy explicitly provided "NO

COVERAGE" for Leschi's building;

- The panel/wiring were embedded in Leschi's building;
- BluWater did not install the panel/wiring;
- BluWater's lease provided that it had no ownership right or right to dispose of the panel/wiring (CP 2909, 2892-94, 5361-62);
- BluWater never controlled, operated, or owned the panel/wiring and BluWater pleaded that it was Leschi's responsibility to repair them (CP 12);
- BluWater did not incur any expense to repair the panel/wiring; Leschi did;
- If Leschi sold the building, the panel/writing would be the property of the buyer (CP 2909-10, 5361-62).

Reply br. at 12.

Division I's ruling on bad faith as a matter of law was premised on its belief that after a November 19, 2021 demand from BluWater, Sentinel did not investigate the cause of the fire, did not settle Leschi's fire-related claims for seven months, and Sentinel's property claims adjuster, Ryan Brichetto, could not explain the delay. Op. 24-25.

This determination, however, improperly conflates the

policy duties and terms, the roles of the liability and property adjusters, and misapplies the duties owed when an "occurrence," as opposed to a "suit," is submitted under Sentinel's policy. That policy treats these two types of events, and the duties triggered by each, differently. Additionally, Division I failed to consider the significance of the timeline of events as to when the separate and distinct duties were triggered.

Sentinel's policy defines "Occurrence" as "an accident, including continuous or repeated exposure to substantially the same general harmful conditions." CP 2496. "Suit' means a civil proceeding in which damages because of 'bodily injury', 'property damage' or 'personal and advertising injury' to which this insurance applies are alleged." CP 2497.

BluWater's obligation to provide notice to Sentinel of an "occurrence" differs from its obligation to provide notice of a "suit." While notice of both is required "as soon as practicable," the notice for a suit requires the notice to be submitted in writing to Sentinel. CP 2489.

Importantly, the policy differentiates between Sentinel's obligations for responding to notice of an "occurrence," as opposed to that of a "suit." Under the policy, Sentinel "may, at [its] discretion," investigate any "occurrence" and settle any "suit." But it does not have the contractual duty to defend or indemnify (or even to investigate a third-party liability claim) unless a "suit" has been filed. CP 2475.

Treating the facts, and inferences from them, in a light most favorable to Sentinel as the non-moving party on summary judgment, *Dowler v. Clover Park Sch. Dist. No.* 409, 172 Wn.2d 471, 484, 258 P.3d 676 (2011), the November 19, 2021 letter and demand that BluWater sent to Sentinel, CP 646, in which it forwarded the landlord's allegations of negligence and demanded "that Sentinel provide coverage for the damages caused by the fire, and to protect our company from all exposures resulting therefrom," (op. 5) was notice of an "occurrence" or "offense which may result in a claim." CP 2489. *No "suit" had been filed as of that date*. Sentinel's subsequent December 22, 2021 letter expressly stated that its response was to the first-party property claim and asked whether BluWater wanted Sentinel to open a liability claim under its policy. Op. 6. It is undisputed that Sentinel did not receive a response to this inquiry.

Accordingly, as of the end of 2021, Sentinel had received notice of an "occurrence," sought clarification of whether BluWater wanted to open a liability claim, and received no response. A fact question existed as to any alleged bad faith on Sentinel's part, because no "suit" had been filed against BluWater, Sentinel's duty to investigate was discretionary, and there was no contractual duty to defend or indemnify triggered at that point.

Leschi filed suit against BluWater on January 11, 2022, CP 1-6, and BluWater then sued Sentinel on January 24, 2022. CP 7-244. It is undisputed that the third-party complaint's service was the first notice of Leschi's "suit" against BluWater received by Sentinel. It is also undisputed that BluWater had still not responded to the inquiry of whether it wanted Sentinel to open a liability claim, and there was no tender or request that Sentinel defend BluWater from the allegations in the "suit."³

Nonetheless, Sentinel opened a liability claim file on March 3, 2022 and assigned a *liability* claim adjuster, Debbie Bradshaw (*not property* claim adjuster, Ryan Brichetto). CP 2738. The first request and tender of the defense that BluWater made to Sentinel was a letter from BluWater's attorney dated April 8, 2022, which was the first response Sentinel had received from BluWater to its December 22 inquiry about whether BluWater wanted Sentinel to open a liability claim (even though Sentinel had already proactively opened one in early March). *Id.*

Upon Bradshaw's assignment to the liability claim and BluWater's tender, Sentinel accepted the defense on April 20, 2022, without any reservation of rights and sought to appoint

³ A tender of a claim is mandatory to invoke liability insurance coverage. *Mut. Of Enumclaw Ins. Co. v. USF Ins. Co.*, 164 Wn.2d 411, 421, 191 P.3d 866 (2008); *Unigard Ins. Co. v. Leven*, 97 Wn. App. 417, 427, 983 P.2d 1155 (1999), *review denied*, 140 Wn.2d 1009 (2000).

defense counsel. CP 2749, 2938.⁴ Sentinel settled and paid the claims asserted by Leschi against BluWater, on June 27, 2022. Op. 19.

Division I determined that the trial court erred in concluding that Sentinel breached its contract with BluWater as a matter of law where the Sentinel policy explicitly foreclosed coverage for damage to Leschi's building. As building damage, BluWater's claim could not be covered as Business Personal Property under the Sentinel policy. Op. 11. The court rejected other alleged policy coverages that the trial court opined applied as a matter of law. Op. 12-18. Nevertheless, the court affirmed the trial court's rulings on bad faith and violation of the CPA as a matter of law. Op. 22-31.

Finally, in upholding the trial court's determination that Sentinel committed discovery violations by failing to provide an appropriately prepared CR 30(b)(6) witness, Derek Cole, op. 34-

⁴ BluWater's counsel then frustrated efforts to appoint such defense counsel. CP 2928, 2943-47.

39, Division I overlooked the fact that the hyper-aggressive conduct of BluWater's counsel and his actions in discovery impacted the deposition, and were designed to set up the witness. Moreover, BluWater was not entitled to dictate Sentinel's choice of a CR 30(b)(6) witness.

- E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED
 - (1) <u>Division I Erred in Ruling That Fact Issues</u> <u>Remained as to Whether BluWater Was Entitled to</u> <u>First-Party Coverage Where the Electrical</u> <u>Panel/Wiring Were Embedded in Leschi's Building</u> <u>and Sentinel Did Not Cover That Building</u>

The central coverage issue in this case, an issue that has implications for property insurance throughout the state, revolved around a simple question: were the electrical panel/wiring embedded in Leschi's building, that BluWater never owned nor installed, covered under the Sentinel personal property (first-party) coverage? Sentinel's policy's declaration page made crystal clear that Sentinel did not afford coverage for the building itself when describing the policy limits for the building and stating: "NO COVERAGE." CP 2430. Division I correctly recognized that the panel/wiring were part of Leschi's building, but erred in concluding that there was an issue of fact as to whether the building's electrical panel/wiring could, nevertheless, be covered "Business Personal Property" under Sentinel's policy. Op. 11-12.⁵

Division I found a fact issue existed as to whether BluWater "acquired" the panel/wiring from Leschi's prior tenant, BaDa Restaurants ("BaDa"). Op. 13. BluWater never proved such an assertion. The panel/wiring were never BluWater's tenant improvements. Such a claim is *contrary* to its answer to Leschi's complaint where it specifically pleaded that *Leschi* had the contractual obligation to repair the electrical panel/wiring. CP 12. Similarly, on summary judgment,

⁵ Sentinel's policy also provided first-party coverage for equipment breakdown, water and molten material damage, and extra expenses, but each of those coverages was dependent upon whether the property at issue was Covered Property. CP 2451-58.

BluWater *admitted* that Leschi owned the electrical panel/wiring. CP 577. BluWater simply acquired a restaurant business with the attendant restaurant chattels. The electrical panel/wiring were *neither*; nowhere in the BaDa documents is there any evidence that BluWater "acquired" the panel/wiring. In purchasing the restaurant business, BluWater did not buy the restaurant building; that remained Leschi's property. The panel/wiring could not be Leschi's property and BluWater's covered personal property simultaneously.

When the Sentinel policy describes covered "Buildings," it *expressly* provides that a building includes permanently installed fixtures, machinery, or equipment.⁶ Leschi's electrical panel/wiring were part of Leschi's building that was not covered under BluWater's Sentinel first-party coverage. BluWater never installed or controlled the electrical panel/wiring, and they were not moveable, any more than plumbing or a roof, or other similar

⁶ Covered tenant improvements, by contrast, refer to improvements made by a tenant.

immoveable structures that would not be covered.

Leschi's lease specifically described that trade fixtures could be removed by BluWater at its conclusion; items including, but not limited to, "all bars, booths, light fixtures, stoves, ovens, refrigeration units, bar stools, music, television or paging systems, shelving, display racks and other equipment," could be removed. CP 2909. These items were moveable. By contrast, the lease made clear that certain property was *not* removable: "The Tenant shall not remove any fixtures including doors, plumbing fixtures, HVAC units or standard electrical fixtures." Id. The electrical panel/wiring were neither "moveables," nor trade fixtures under the lease's terms. BluWater conceded that it would not be able to remove the panel/wiring at the lease's termination. CP 5361-62. Merely because the restaurant business was transferred to BluWater or the panel/wiring were in "BluWater's space," (albeit in the basement of Leschi's building), CP 573, 577, that does not make them fixtures or tenant improvements, as BluWater argued to the trial court.

Leschi, as the building owner, knew the panel/wiring, embedded in the building, were part of its real property in paying for their repair. BluWater, too, understood that to be the case when it pleaded that the panel/wiring repairs were Leschi's responsibility. CP 12.

Division I's opinion is contrary to Washington's common law on chattels annexed to buildings; it nowhere addresses that controlling law. The panel/wiring were part of Leschi's building for which there was explicitly "NO COVERAGE." Generally, unless the parties agree otherwise, buildings and other permanent improvements, including those added by the tenant, become part of the land and must be left at the conclusion of the leasehold. *Dep't of Revenue v. Boeing Co.*, 85 Wn.2d 663, 667, 538 P.2d 505 (1975). Accord, Western Ag. Land Partners v. Dep't of *Revenue*, 43 Wn. App. 167, 716 P.2d 310 (1986); *REC Solar Grade Silicon, LLC. v. McKnight*, 14 Wn. App. 2d 1058, 2020 WL 6059734 (2020).

In Forman v. Columbia Theaters Co., 20 Wn.2d 685, 148

P.2d 951 (1944), this Court rejected as "highly improbable" the notion that a theater tenant could remove the original wiring and electrical conduits, fire doors and frames for automatic fire shutters in a theater at the conclusion of the leasehold. *Id.* at 690. Division I's opinion does not even cite *Forman*, although it was featured prominently in its Commissioner's discretionary review ruling (*see* appendix) as a reason the trial court obviously erred. RAP 2.3(b)(1).

Division I's opinion on chattels annexed to buildings is contrary to the terms of Sentinel's policy and controlling Washington law. The panel/wiring here were part of the landlord's building and *not* covered personal property as a matter of law. Review is merited. RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2).

> (2) <u>Division I Erred in Upholding the Trial Court's</u> <u>Ruling on Bad Faith as a Matter of Law</u>

Division I should not have affirmed the trial court's ruling on bad faith as a matter of law when bad faith is a question of fact issue dependent upon the *reasonableness* of the insurer's conduct. Smith v. Safeco Ins. Co., 150 Wn.2d 478, 484, 78 P.3d 1274 (2003); Van Noy v. State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co., 142 Wn.2d 784, 796, 16 P.3d 574 (2001).

Division I seemingly concedes, op. 22, that the trial court erred in affirming summary judgment "where denial of coverage ... is based upon a reasonable interpretation of the insurance policy." Kirk v. Mt. Airy Ins. Co., 134 Wn.2d 558, 560, 951 P.2d 1124 (1998); Coventry Associates v. American States Ins. Co., 136 Wn.2d 269, 280, 961 P.2d 933, 937-38 (1998) ("As long as the insurance company acts with honesty, bases its decision on adequate information, and does not overemphasize its own interests, an insured is not entitled to base a bad faith or CPA claim against its insurer on the basis of a good faith mistake"); Overton v. Consolidated Ins. Co., 145 Wn.2d 417, 429, 38 P.3d 322 (2002) ("If the insurer's denial of coverage is based on a reasonable interpretation of the insurance policy, there is no action for bad faith.").⁷

Division I, however, determined that "despite this information [that BluWater had forwarded the landlord's November 19, 2021 demand letter], Sentinel did not investigate the cause of the electrical arc that lead to the fire..." Op. 24.

As noted *supra*, Division I's bad faith decision conflates Sentinel's obligations under the liability coverage part triggered by an "occurrence" and a "suit." The November 19, 2021, letter was notice of an "occurrence," only. It was not, and could not be, on notice of a "suit" because the landlord did not file the "suit" until two months later. Under the express terms of the Sentinel policy, any duty to investigate was discretionary. The lack of an investigation of the cause of the electrical arc that led

⁷ To make sure it had its policy analysis right, Sentinel even had "four sets of eyes" review and re-review the coverage determination. RP 30-31; CP 2890-92. Whether the three claim professionals and an in-house coverage attorney, who had a combined 50+ years of experience, all acted reasonably confirming the denial created, at a minimum, a question of fact on Sentinel's treatment of the claim.

to the fire cannot be a basis of a finding of bad faith as a matter of law.⁸

Division I's next asserted that Sentinel "did not settle the landlord's claim against BluWater until more than seven months after BluWater's November 19 letter demanding protection." Op. 24. Again, this statement assumes that Sentinel had a duty to settle an "occurrence" when no "suit" had been filed, which is contrary to the policy terms and Washington law, setting the wrong "start" date for its assessment of the timeliness of resolution. BluWater did not give notice of an actual "suit" until late January 2022, and did not tender the defense of the suit until April 8, 2022, whereupon Sentinel immediately accepted the tender of suit without reservation of rights, began its *liability* investigation, and settled and paid all claims asserted against BluWater in June 2022.

Under the terms of the policy and Washington law,

⁸ Sentinel investigated the fire in any event – CP 2500-2628.

Sentinel was not in bad faith as matter of law for the 2 ½ month period from when BluWater tendered the suit to when Sentinel settled the suit and paid. Sentinel's handling of BluWater's claim was, in fact, *reasonable*. Reply br. at 7-10. Particularly given BluWater's failure to cooperate in the defense and investigation of the liability claim after its tender, CP 2938-41, conduct that Bradshaw with 40 years of claims adjuster experience found to be "extremely unusual," CP 2928, bad faith was a fact question for a jury.

Division I also referenced property adjuster Brichetto's deposition testimony that he "could not explain why Sentinel, as of that date, had not contacted BluWater or its attorney to discuss the liability claim after the landlord sued BluWater." Op. 24. The court's reliance upon this fact is misplaced. Brichetto was the *property* adjuster;⁹ he had no reason to know about the

⁹ As Sentinel did in this case, insurance companies commonly split property and liability files so that they are handled by different adjusters to prevent a possible conflict. Washington courts discourage co-mingling of insureds'

liability adjuster's pre-tender handling of the claim.

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