FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 8/22/2024 4:14 PM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

No. 103199-8

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

LESCHI PARTNERS, LLC,

Plaintiff/Counterdefendant,

v.

FC LESCHI, LLC, dba BLUWATER BISTRO,

Respondent,

ZACHARY FLEET; BART EVANS AND FC LESCHI, LLC, D/B/A BLUWATER BISTRO-LESCHI,

Respondents,

v.

HARTFORD FIRE INSURANCE COMPANY; SENTINEL INSURANCE COMPANY LTD.; a foreign insurance company, part of the HARTFORD FIRE & CASUALTY GROUP,

Appellants.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

RUIZ & SMART LLP Isaac Ruiz, WSBA #35237 Denise Chen, WSBA #59906 901 Fifth Avenue, Suite 820 Seattle, Washington 98164 206-203-9100 Tel.

Attorneys for Respondents

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

V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

Rule of Appellate Procedure 13.4(b) provides limited grounds for review by this Court:

- (1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or
- (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals; or
- (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or
- (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

RAP 13.4(b). Hartford/Sentinel rely on subsections (1) and (2), but neither of these narrow grounds for review applies here.

A. Hartford/Sentinel fails to show that Division I's unpublished, fact-focused holding regarding tenant improvements and betterments warrants review.¹

Hartford/Sentinel asks this Court to set aside core insurance-interpretation principles. Review should be denied for two reasons: (1) the policy defines the terms of the policy, not Harford/Sentinel's cherry-picked "common law" cases that average purchasers of insurance know nothing about; and (2) the case of *Forman v. Columbia Theaters Company*—a case that has nothing to do with insurance—does not preclude a finding that there is a genuine dispute as to whether BluWater acquired electrical equipment and fans from BaDa. 20 Wn.2d 685, 148 P.2d 951 (1944).

¹ BluWater contended the trial court correctly granted summary judgment relating to the Tenant Improvements and Betterments coverage. Division I found genuine fact issues precluded summary judgment. Nevertheless, BluWater recognizes that Supreme Court review generally is not available to second-guess an appellate court's analysis of the factual record.

1. Hartford/Sentinel's position is completely at odds with insurance interpretation principles.

Hartford/Sentinel persists in arguing that anything that is part of the building can never be covered under this policy. Pet. at 10. It also persists in asking that the "common law on chattels" be grafted on this policy. *Id.* at 14. Application of universally accepted insurance principles forecloses Hartford/Sentinel's argument. And, importantly, Hartford/Sentinel's proprietary internal procedures directly show that Division I's reading of the policy is the same one that Hartford/Sentinel intended. CP 5517 (sealed).

It is improper to use "common law" to negate the intention expressed in the policy. *Boeing Co. v. Aetna Cas. & Sur. Co.*, 113 Wn.2d 869, 881, 784 P.2d 507 (1990) ("legal technical meanings have never trumped the common perception of the common man."). Hartford invites the Court to use a 1944 case to ascertain the meaning of a term that is defined in the policy, but legal meanings are irrelevant to modern insurance

policy interpretation. *Id.* at 881–82. If Hartford/Sentinel desired to limit the "business personal property" coverage as proposed, the onus was on it to clearly state so on the face of the policy. *Id.* at 887.

Hartford/Sentinel claims the electrical panel and fans are part of the building, and the building was excluded from coverage. Pet. at 15. However, Tenant Improvements include items that are made part of the building, *i.e.*, here, the electrical panel and fans: "fixtures, alterations, installations or additions made a part of the Building you occupy but do not own and that you cannot legally remove." CP 734. Division I reached the only conclusion permitted under Washington law.

2. There is no conflict with *Forman*.

BluWater addresses *Forman* only out of an abundance of caution. *Forman* did not involve insurance contract interpretation for coverage. In *Forman*, a landlord sold to his tenant specific property which was enumerated in a bill of sale.

20 Wn.2d.at 689–89. The sale document listed out specific items, including "Robert Morten Organ," and "piles, Lobby Display, Bill-Boards, *etc.*" *Id.* (emphasis added). The lease agreement, however, required the tenant to "leave on said premises all permanent improvements." *Id.*

The tenant eventually ended their lease and removed original electrical wiring and conduits, fire doors, and frames for automatic fire shutters, which were designed for use in a theater building. *Id.* The landlord sued for the return of that property.

At trial, the tenant argued the property passed through the sale documents by the term "etc.," but it was determined that the property belonged to the landlord. *Id.* The Supreme Court affirmed because the testimony showed the disputed property was unique to the specific purposes of the building and did not bear any relationship to the listed property preceding "etc." in the bill of sale. *Id.* at 686, 690. In this context, the Court found

it was "highly improbable" that property would have passed through the word "etc.," and thus the disputed property was a permanent improvement.

Our case is dissimilar. BluWater does not claim that the electrical panel and fans passed through "etc.". Additionally, the description of the property BluWater acquired in the purchase and sale agreement does not specifically list any items. *See* Op. at 13 (quoting purchase and sale agreement).

If, as Hartford/Sentinel contends, the "common law of chattels" governed the interpretation of the policy, then under *Forman*, Division I is still correct that the issue should be decided by a jury: "If the various leases had been silent as to the ownership of the items in dispute, then the ownership would necessarily have to be determined" *Id.* at 691.

Dispositive evidence one way or another² was not before Division I, and thus it should be decided by a jury Op. at 13 ("Neither party presented any evidence to the superior court as to who installed the electrical panel.").

Division I's decision is not in conflict with *Forman* or any other law. RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2).

B. Division I correctly upheld the trial court's ruling on CPA violations.

Review on this issue is not warranted because

Hartford/Sentinel waived its arguments regarding its violations
of claims-handling regulations WAC 284-30-360(2), (3) and
(4), and Division I's decision does not conflict with any
published decision. RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2).

² Although at oral argument Hartford/Sentinel requested summary judgment in their favor, they failed to brief the issue, and Division I correctly declined to consider an issue

Hartford/Sentinel did not brief. Op. at 9 n.9.

24

"An insured can show an unfair or deceptive practice that impacts the public interest by establishing a violation of the regulations related to unfair insurance company practices as set forth in chapter 284-30 WAC." *Shields v. Enter. Leasing Co.*, 139 Wn. App. 664, 675, 161 P.3d 1068 (2007). A violation of any one of the claims-handling regulations is per se bad faith and a per se violation of the CPA. *Indus. Indem. Co. v. Kallevig*, 114 Wn.2d 907, 922–23, 792 P.2d 520 (1990).

After failing to address or dispute that Hartford/Sentinel violated certain claims handling regulations, namely WAC 284-30-360(2), (3), and (4), Hartford/Sentinel waived any argument with respect to those provisions. Op. at 26. ("BluWater argues that Hartford has waived any argument as to the court's determination that it violated WAC 284-30-360(3) and WAC 284-30-360(4). We agree.").³

_

25

³ The trial court found Hartford violated WAC 284-30-360(2). CP 3122. Although Division I did not specifically find

Even if Hartford/Sentinel had not waived its argument, "Hartford does not present any argument or evidence to establish that a genuine issue of material fact exists as to the court's finding that Hartford violated subsections (3) and (4) of WAC 284-30-360." Op. at 27. And instead, Division I found that Hartford's violations of the regulations were supported by evidence that it acted in bad faith. *Id.* at 26–27.

None of the cases cited by Hartford/Sentinel preclude summary judgment on the CPA violation issue, and there is no conflict between the cases cited and Division I's opinion.

RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2).

Hartford/Sentinel waived its argument with respect to this subsection, Hartford/Sentinel failed to brief this issue on appeal, entirely, thus waiving its argument like it did with subsections (3) and (4).

C. Division I properly affirmed the trial court's ruling on bad faith as a matter of law relating to the policy's liability coverage.

Review should be denied on this issue because there is no conflict with any of the bad-faith cases Hartford/Sentinel's references. Pet. at 15–16.

Hartford/Sentinel failed to present any evidence that it acted reasonably in handling BluWater's insurance claim.⁴ Yet, Hartford/Sentinel now, for the first time, claims it reasonably violated the claims-handling regulations because the policy imposes a duty to investigate a "suit" but gives Hartford/Sentinel discretion to investigate an "occurrence." Pet. at 5–6, 17. Hartford/Sentinel alleges it had no duty to

⁴ "Hartford argues that the trial court should have denied summary judgment when Hartford raised material issues of fact. But Hartford does not discuss what those facts are or cite to the record. RAP 10.3(a)(6) (appellate brief should contain argument supporting issues presented for review, citations to legal authority, and references to relevant parts of the record)." Op. at 24.

investigate or reasonably communicate with BluWater until a suit was filed. *Id*.

The Court should reject this argument for two reasons:

(1) Hartford/Sentinel did not property raise the argument below, and (2) the source of an insurer's obligations is greater than the terms of the policy but include those mandated by law.

First, Hartford/Sentinel failed to raise its "occurrence"-versus-"suit" argument in the lower court and failed to brief the issue until its petition for review, and "[t]his court does not generally consider issues raised for the first time in a petition for review." *Fisher v. Allstate Ins. Co.*, 136 Wn.2d 240, 252, 961 P.2d 350 (1998).

Second, Washington law imposed extracontractual obligations on Hartford/Sentinel, which it violated.

Washington's claims-handling regulations appear at WAC 284-30-300 to -380. The regulations apply "to all insurers and to all insurance policies and insurance contracts." WAC 284-30-310.

The regulations define "certain minimum standards" for the handling of insurance claims. WAC 284-30-300.

Under WAC 284-30-360(4), which Hartford/Sentinel indisputably violated, Hartford/Sentinel's duties to provide forms, instructions, and reasonable assistance are triggered by "notification of a claim." "Notification of a claim" means "any notification ... by a claimant, which reasonably apprises the insurer of the facts pertinent to a claim." WAC 284-30-320(14). With respect to liability coverage, BluWater gave this notification as early as November 2021 when it submitted its landlord's letter threatening litigation. CP 646.

Additionally, insurers owe insureds a duty of good faith arising from their relationship, and the duty of good faith is not limited to the terms of the insurance contract. *Tank v. State*Farm Fire & Cas. Co., 105 Wn.2d 381, 385–86, 715 P.2d 1133 (1986). Regardless of the contractual duties promised,

Hartford/Sentinel's also owed a duty of good faith arising from

relationship ... implies 'a broad obligation of fair dealing' and a responsibility to give 'equal consideration' to the insured's interests." *St. Paul Fire & Marine Ins. Co.*, 165 Wn.2d at 129-30 (citations omitted); *see* RCW 48.01.030 ("The business of insurance is one affected by the public interest, requiring that all persons be actuated by good faith, abstain from deception, and practice honesty and equity in all insurance matters.").

That the policy gives Hartford/Sentinel "discretion" to investigate any "occurrence" before a lawsuit is filed does not change that the law imposed on Hartford/Sentinel a duty to investigate, reasonably communicate, and assist with BluWater's claim once BluWater submitted the claim. Even after Hartford learned Leschi Partners filed a lawsuit against BluWater, Hartford/Sentinel continued to take no action for months. CP 2749.

It is undisputed that Hartford/Sentinel's violations of WAC 284-30-360 (2), (3) and (4), constitute a breach of the insurer's duty of good faith, and Division I's decision does not conflict with any cases cited. RAP 13.4(b) (1), (2).

D. Division I correctly upheld the trial court's finding that Sentinel violated the discovery rules.

Review is not appropriate to address issues

Hartford/Sentinel waived below. Hartford/Sentinel asks this

Court to find it did not engage in discovery violations, Pet. at

24, but it ignores the fact that it "waived any assignment of
error related to its claim that BluWater's CR 30 (b)(6) notice
was too broad" by failing to brief the issue. Op. at 36–37.

Even if it had not waived the issue, Hartford/Sentinel ignores the detailed, specific record citations contained in BluWater's brief before Division I proving Hartford/Sentinel failed to designate a witness on Topics 21–27, CP 4739–43, 4972, 5015; and designee Derek Cole was woefully unprepared on topics for which he was designated, CP 5012–13, 5014.

Contrary to Hartford/Sentinel's suggestion that BluWater was engaged in abusive discovery pursuits, this record is unusually robust because it includes an expert declaration from a retired insurance industry executive documenting for the trial court justification for the subjects of discovery. CP 5377–92.

Regarding the trial court's order that Hartford/Sentinel designate an upper-level executive as its make-up CR 30(b)(6) designee, Hartford/Sentinel ignores Division I's reliance on CR 37(a)(2), which authorizes the trial court to compel a designation. Op. at 38.

Hartford/Sentinel persists in incorrect characterizations of the conduct of BluWater's counsel. Pet. at 26–27. Rather than rebut these false allegations, it suffices to say that appellate review of discovery rulings is for abuse of discretion; Division I's decision has all the hallmarks of a thorough, thoughtful analysis; and Hartford/Sentinel fails to identify any decision of

this Court or the Court of Appeals with which Division I's decision has anything near a conflict.

E. If the Court accepts review of Hartford/Sentinel's claims, the Court should also accept review of the Division I's interpretation of the "care, custody, or control" provision of the policy.

BluWater is concerned with Division I's misapplication of contract interpretation principles and well-established law construing insurance-policy ambiguities in favor of insureds.

Division I should not have construed an undefined policy term, "[p]roperty of others that is in your care, custody or control," with the benefit of the doubt favoring Hartford/Sentinel. Op. at 13–16.

Indeed, "[w]here possible, we harmonize clauses that seem to conflict in order to give effect to all of the contract's provisions." *Kut Suen Lui v. Essex Ins. Co.*, 185 Wn.2d 703, 710, 375 P.3d 596 (2016). "[A]mbiguities in insurance policies are resolved in favor of the insured." *Am. Best Food, Inc. v. Alea London, Ltd.*, 168 Wn.2d 398, 411, 229 P.3d 693 (2010).

"A term will be deemed ambiguous if it is susceptible to more than one reasonable interpretation." *McLaughlin v. Travelers Commercial Ins. Co.*, 196 Wn.2d 631, 642, 476 P.3d 1032

(2020). Over 70 years ago, this Court acknowledged the principle that if insurance policies "are so drawn as to require interpretation and fairly susceptible of two different conclusions, the one will be adopted most favorable to the insured; and will be liberally construed in favor of the object to be accomplished, and conditions and provisions therein will be strictly construed against the insurer." *Id.* at 642–43 (quoting *Jack v. Standard Marine Ins. Co.*, 33 Wn.2d 265, 271, 205 P.2d 351 (1949)).

The Policy covers "property of others that is in your care, custody, or control." CP 710. The policy does not define "care, custody or control." *Id.* The provision is fairly susceptible to two different conclusions.

One conclusion, offered by BluWater, is that this provision covered the electrical panel because it was located on the building, entirely within BluWater's leased space, and served BluWater's restaurant only. CP 602, 1247. A second conclusion is that the provision that does not reach the electrical panel because it is affixed to the building. Op. at 15.

Faced with a provision that was susceptible to more than one reasonable conclusion, Division I was required to resolve the ambiguity in favor of the insured.

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